

### THE UNIVERSITY of EDINBURGH

#### Edinburgh Research Explorer

#### The emergence, uses and impacts of narratives on migration

#### Citation for published version:

Boswell, C, Smellie, S, Maneri, M, Pogliano, A, Garcés-Mascareñas, B, Benet-Martínez, V & Güell, B 2021 'The emergence, uses and impacts of narratives on migration: State of the art' Zenodo, pp. 1-26. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5720313

#### **Digital Object Identifier (DOI):**

10.5281/zenodo.5720313

#### Link: Link to publication record in Edinburgh Research Explorer

**Document Version:** Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

#### **General rights**

Copyright for the publications made accessible via the Edinburgh Research Explorer is retained by the author(s) and / or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing these publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

#### Take down policy

The University of Édinburgh has made every reasonable effort to ensure that Edinburgh Research Explorer content complies with UK legislation. If you believe that the public display of this file breaches copyright please contact openaccess@ed.ac.uk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



# The Emergence, Uses and Impacts of Narratives on Migration State of the Art

Christina Boswell, Saskia Smellie, Marcello Maneri, Andrea Pogliano, Blanca Garcés, Verónica Benet-Martínez and Berta Güell

#### **BRIDGES Working Papers**

#02 November 2021



This publication is part of a project that has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 101004564.



# Contents

ABSTRACT	3
1. INTRODUCTION	4
2. NARRATIVES IN SOCIAL SCIENCES	4
3. DEFINITIONS	6
4. THE FUNCTIONS OF NARRATIVES	7
5. DIFFUSION AND IMPACT	9
6. MIGRATION NARRATIVES	12
7. THE ROLE OF GENDER	15
8. TRENDS IN NARRATIVES	16
9. CONCLUSION	18
REFERENCES	19

# Abstract

This *Working Paper* provides an overview of social science literature on narratives, with a particular focus on narratives on migration (MiNa). The paper starts by tracing the emergence of the concept of narratives in a range of social sciences (sociology, anthropology, political science, psychology and media studies), and then outlines a working definition of the concept for use in the BRIDGES project. We then map key literature about the emergence and sources of narratives; their psychological, social and political functions; and the factors influencing their spread and prevalence. We go on to explore how the concept has been applied to understand the dynamics of mobility, displacement, integration, public attitudes and political mobilisation in migration studies. We examine some of the key themes of the literature in relation to gender, a key dimension of the BRIDGES project, and then set out a number of trends that might be expected to shape the content and diffusion of narratives.

**Christina Boswell** is Chair in Politics and Dean of research at the University of Edinburgh (UEDIN). She is also Fellow of the British Academy and Chair of the Scottish Government's Expert Advisory Group on Migration and Population.

**Saskia Smellie** is a Research Assistant and an advanced PhD researcher in Politics and International Relations at the University of Edinburgh (UEDIN). Her PhD investigates variation in policy response to the European 'migrant crisis' from a foreign policy analysis perspective.

**Marcello Maneri** is a Research Affiliate at the Forum Internazionale ed Europeo di Ricerche sull'Immigrazione (FIERI) and Associate Professor of Sociology at the University of Milano Bicocca, where he teaches Media and Cultural Sociology.

**Andrea Pogliano** is a Research Affiliate at the Forum Internazionale ed Europeo di Ricerche sull'Immigrazione (FIERI) and Lecturer in Sociology of Media and Communication at the University of Piemonte Orientale.

**Blanca Garcés-Mascareñas** is a Senior Research Fellow and Research Coordinator at the Barcelona Centre for International Affairs (CIDOB), as well as BRIDGES Scientific Coordinator. She holds a PhD cum laude in Social Sciences from the University of Amsterdam.

**Verónica Benet-Martínez** is an ICREA (Catalan Institution for Research and Advances Studies) Research Professor at Pompeu Fabra University (UPF), where she is also Head of the Research Group on Behavioral and Experimental Social Sciences.

**Berta Güell** is Researcher in the area of Migrations at the Barcelona Centre for International Affairs (CIDOB) and BRIDGES Assistant Coordinator. She holds a PhD in Sociology with an extraordinary award from the Autonomous University of Barcelona (UAB).

### 1. Introduction

The BRIDGES project explores the generation and impact of narratives on migration. Our core assumption is that narratives play a key role in shaping beliefs, behaviour and policy-making in the area of migration. The project explores how narratives are produced, why and how some become dominant, how narratives shape migrant decision-making, and how they impact individuals' opinions as well as political debate and policy-making. The project adopts an interdisciplinary perspective to these questions, mobilising insights and methods from social psychology, media studies, sociology, political science and history.

In this *Working Paper*, we locate the project's approach within key literature on narratives, and more specifically on migration narratives (MiNa). The paper starts by reviewing the emergence of the concept of 'narratives' in social science research (Section 1). It then draws on different approaches to develop a definition that can be used across disciplines (Section 2). This section also explores what analytical or theoretical purchase does the concept give us – compared to, for example, discourse, frames, or myths. In Section 3, we consider what literature tells us about the emotional, cognitive, social, strategic and political functions of narratives. Section 4 explores how narratives are developed and diffused, considering some of the conditions under which they gain traction and become diffused and sustained over time. Section 5 turns to consider literature applying narrative concepts and theories to migrants and to debate and policies on migration. In Section 6 we consider the role and treatment of gender in narrative construction, reflecting a key concern of the BRIDGES project. Finally, in Section 7 we consider some of the recent trends in narratives: how the content, diffusion and functions of narratives are changing, especially the light of changes in media and political dynamics.

While our review focuses on the definitions, functions, diffusion and impact of narratives more generally, we are especially interested in contributions that apply narrative theories and concepts to migration. Throughout the analysis, we provide examples of such applications in the literature. However, the review cannot hope to cover every single application of the concept of narratives to migration; instead, we select those examples we believe are most influential in the field, and/or most useful in shaping research in the BRIDGES project.

## 2. Narratives in Social Sciences

The concept of 'narratives' has its genesis in the humanities, and more particularly in literary studies. Czarniawska traces the development of narrative analysis through the work of Russian formalists and postformalists who analysed the underlying structures of folktales going back to the 1920s (Czarniawska 2004). Polkinghorne (1988) traces several movements that further developed this focus on texts, including the New Criticism (Northrop Frye and Robert Scholes), French narratology (Tzvetan Todorov and Roland Barthes), and German hermeneutics (including Hans-Georg Gadamer and Wolfgang Iser). French narratologists in particular were influenced by the work of Claude Levi-Strauss and linguist Noam Chomsky, who explored the evolution of the narrative in history (Czarniawska 2004). Another key figure was Paul Ricoeur, whose work examined the relation between narrative and temporality. As Czarniawska notes, these approaches shared an 'interest in texts as such, not in the authors' intentions or the circumstances of the texts' production' (14). In the 1970s, these approaches began to influence a wider range of humanities and social sciences, including historiography, sociolinguistics and sociology. Czarniawska notes that by the end of the 1970s, narrative was being picked up across political science, notably in the work of Walter R Fisher (1984); in psychology, through the work of Jerome Bruner (1987) and Donald E Polkinghorne (1988), in Sociology in the work of Laurel Richardson (1990), and in economics through Deirdre McCloskey (1990).

Within most branches of social sciences, the 'narrative turn' coincided with a turn away from positivist paradigms towards a more social constructivist approach, which favoured qualitative methods and a focus on discourse. Anthropologists were among the pioneers of this approach, arguing that cultures could not be understood without considering the mental structures underpinning them. In the early 1950s, the French anthropologist Lévi-Strauss claimed that narratives (understood as every story ever told) consist of basic elementary structures that are the same across all times and cultures and are combined following different patterns or grammatical systems. Without these structuring mechanisms, Lévi-Strauss argued, it was impossible to make sense of the world and of life itself (1958). In the 1960s and 1970s, this approach also shaped epistemological discussions on how to study culture. For instance, Clifford Geertz (1973) argued that cultural analysis is never complete as it is limited to an 'interpretation of interpretations' where anthropologists can only give meaning to the web of meanings that constitutes culture.

Sociologists also began to explore the role of narratives in understanding communication in sociological research. This strand of research is captured in the work of Richardson (1990), who argued that narrative construction was central to the way sociologists drew on data to make sense of their objects of enquiry. As she writes, 'all social scientific writing depends upon narrative structure and narrative devices... The issue is not whether sociology should use the narrative, but which narratives will be provided to the reader' (1990, 117). Other work in sociology emphasised the central role of narratives in shaping individual identities and behaviour (Somers and Gibson 1994). As Somers and Gibson put it, 'social life is itself storied', implying that 'narrative is an *ontological condition of social* life' (1994, 2). Drawing on the work of psychologist Polkinghorne, narrative was identified as the primary way through which people organise their experiences into meaningful episodes (Polkinghorne 1988, 1).

In political sociology and political science, the turn to narratives can be located in a broader interest that emerged in the 1970s in the social construction of policy problems. This literature eschewed the notion that policy problems were objective features of the world, instead emphasising how different actors selected features of social issues to emphasise, through 'framing', 'issue selection', 'problem construction' or agenda-setting. In these contexts, narratives were not simply a device for communicating complex material; they also had a generative effect, shaping social action. As Jones and McBeth identify (2010), key contributions in this field were offered by Thomas J. Kaplan (1986), Maarten A. Hajer (1993), Frank Fischer (Fischer and Forrester 1993; Fischer 2003), Emery Roe (1994) and Deborah Stone (1997, 2002). These approaches can also be related to the increased interest in the role of ideas in shaping political behaviour, as captured in historical, sociological, and discursive institutionalism.

Within psychology, narratives have been adopted as a tool for understanding people's attitudes, beliefs, intentions, and behaviours (Braddock and Dillard 2016). As in other social sciences, the interest in studying narratives in psychology reflected a shift from purely positivist approaches towards a more social constructivist view of the mind. This view recognized the study of individuals' subjectivities (e.g., their personal accounts of the world) as critical in understanding and better predicting key outcomes such as psychological adjustment, social and personal identities, and socio-political attitudes (McAdams 2006). Narratives in psychology are understood as storied accounts of connected events that people construct in order to deal – both emotionally and cognitively – with meaningful experiences. Such narratives permeate our everyday psychological experience. As Sarbin writes (1986, 8), 'human beings think, perceive, imagine, and make moral choices according to narrative structures.' The concept of narratives has also been widely embraced within media studies, especially from the so-called 'cultural turn', with its focus on representations. Much of the theoretical elaboration of the approach was produced at the Center for Contemporary Cultural Studies at Birmingham, under the direction of Stuart Hall. This work influenced the field of media studies, resulting in a greater focus on discourses and on narratives.

## 3. Definitions

While the concept of narratives has been deployed across multiple disciplines, we can nonetheless identify a number of common features in the way the term is understood. In its most basic sense, the concept of narrative refers to a sequence of chronologically and logically related events from which humans can learn (Toolan 2001). Narratives are characterised by displacement – the events told in stories are spatially and/or temporally remote (Todorov 1977), taking the form of historical interpretations (Hammack and Pilecki 2012). They are also characterised by transformation, as they generally present a progression from a crisis to a resolution (Todorov 1977). As Ryan writes, 'the sequence of events must form a unified causal chain and lead to closure' (Ryan 2007, 29). Narratives involve a prescriptive and diagnostic dimension, identifying the issue at stake and how to resolve it (Rein and Schon 1991, 1996), and they also contain information about the setting, characters and their motivation (Braddock and Dillard 2016, 446).

A useful conceptualisation that captures these elements is provided by Jones and McBeth (2010, 329). Reviewing the literature on narratives, they complain that 'narrative remains a mysterious and elusive concept in public theory, too associated with literature theory, too superfluous to underpin theory building, and too nebulous to facilitate the empirical investigation of policy processes and outcomes' (2010, 330-331). They therefore propose a more rigorous definition which can be empirically falsified – 'clear enough to be wrong.' They set out the following definition, which integrates the features we identified above:

'A narrative is a story with a temporal sequence of events unfolding in a plot that is populated by dramatic moments, symbols, and archetypal characters that culminates in a moral to the story.' (Jones and McBeth 2010, 329)

Jones and McBeth specify that narratives must possess the following qualities:

- 1. a setting or context;
- 2. a plot with temporal dimension (beginning, middle, end) that sets out relationships between characters, settings and identified causal mechanisms;
- 3. heroes, villains and victims;
- 4. a moral of the story, and implied solutions.

It is worth noting that this list of properties produces a narrower definition of narratives than is often deployed in psychology, where these features may be implicitly detectable, but not clearly present in all instances of what may be termed 'narrative.'

Narratives are reproduced through the discourse and cultural products of societies, including education, myth, and commemorative practices (Hammack and Pilecki 2012, 76). This makes them amenable to analysis by a range of social science disciplines. Narratives can be found in the media, in political communication, and in the way individuals and groups describe their beliefs, attitudes, identities and histories. By definition, narratives are characterised by a certain degree of stability and consistency over time and/or across space (Jacobs 2015). As noted above, they include assumptions about causality, good and bad, responsibility and consequences. Though narratives must broadly align with the knowledge available in a particular setting (thus meeting basic conditions of consistency and plausibility – Boswell, Geddes, and Scholten 2011), they can be representationally inaccurate (and recognizably so) and include a contradictory set of beliefs. In fact, their semantic and/or moral ambiguity may provide appeal to various actors (Hajer 1995).

These features of narratives – their stability and capacity to sequence complex, emotive and morally charged ideas in a compelling and accessible format – distinguish them from other concepts such as

'frames' or 'discourse.' Framing is a process that refers to the selection and presentation of particular dimensions of an issue. Framing makes these selected aspects more salient, 'in such a way as to promote a particular problem definition, causal interpretation, moral evaluation, and/or treatment recommendation for the item described' (Entman 1993). In media studies, a frame is a 'central organising idea' (Gamson and Modigliani 1989, 143), an angle through which a story can be told and becomes meaningful. Frames may be linked with broader phenomena or issues (Fishman 1978). Such frames can be used to compare different ways to select and highlight. While such selection is also a feature of narrative, framing does not involve a sequential dimension; nor does it necessarily involve a plot and characters and a denouement in the sense identified above.

In linguistics and discourse analysis, discourse is defined as a fully developed communicative situation (Dijk 1997). Following the work of Foucault, we can understand such discourse as capturing a much broader system of knowledge, thought and communication (Foucault 2002). For Foucault, discourse constructs our experience of the world and is formed by a circuit of power/knowledge, where power is constituted through accepted forms of knowledge, scientific understanding and 'truth', and knowledge arises from practices of power. When it comes to media and migration, therefore, the use of the concept of discourse often implies a reflection on the ideological uses of discourse on migration, asylum, and integration: how they are utilised to conceal, justify, or make sense of social practices of power and relations of domination.

Another related concept is that of myths. Myths are enduring cultural stories about some aspect of society, which tend to be formulaic and metaphoric, often repeating the interpretation that culture makes of itself, with familiar characters and predictable outcomes (Lule 1995). In turn, myths apply their symbolic power to social narratives over time (Slotkin 1992), informing how media stories are told.

#### 4. The Functions of Narratives

Narratives have multiple functions for social actors, and these have been well covered in social science literature. Narratives help people deal with meaningful experiences, both cognitively and emotionally. From a cognitive perspective, they allow individuals and collectives to organise, group and understand complex material, making it coherent and accessible (Sahin-Mencutek 2020). They allow individuals and collectives to organise, process and convey information (Jones and McBeth 2010). Narratives are particularly important in situations where the social reality is complex and difficult to make sense of (Murray 2003); that is, when it is difficult to agree on the nature and meaning of a particular phenomenon, a narrative will provide structure and meaning and facilitate information processing and learning.

On an emotional level, narratives fulfil a need for collective solidarity through creating shared meaning. Hammack and Pilecki (2012, 77) refer to this as a form of 'narrative engagement, through which members of a society engage with collective stories of what it means to inhabit a particular political entity, be it a nation-state, a resistance movement, or a political party.' Narratives also help link individual emotions and cognition to wider social discourse. As Hammack and Pilecki argue, narratives serve 'to create a sense of personal coherence and collective solidarity and to legitimize collective beliefs, emotions and actions.' As Casebeer and Russell argue, 'stories influence our ability to recall events, motivate people to act, modulate our emotional reactions to events, cue certain heuristics and biases, structure or problem-solving capabilities, and ultimately perhaps even constitute our very identity' (2005, 9).

Narratives also play an important role in communication and persuasion. They allow agents to convey complex ideas in an accessible and compelling way. They also allow audiences to identify with characters

(Iga Psy nar anc (i.e nar intr Flov role mai dev

2021

BRIDGES Working Papers I #02 November

(Igartua 2010), becoming emotionally drawn into otherwise distant or abstract situations and contexts. Psychology has shown that the narratives individuals are exposed to (i.e., individuals as receivers of narratives) can affect their opinions and views through narrative-persuasion processes (Braddock and Dillard 2016); in turn, individuals then rely on this knowledge to construct their own narratives. (i.e., individuals as makers of narratives). The psychological processes involved in the processing of narratives on the one hand, and the production/ reproduction of narratives on the other, are thus intrinsically linked (Kashima 2000).

Flowing from this communicative function, narratives also have a more productive or generative role, enabling powerful forms of influence or manipulation. Social actors can strategically manipulate social meanings, for example through portraying certain groups as undeserving or deviant (Jones and Radaelli 2015). This communicative function has been extensively discussed and applied in literature on the media, and on politics. In media studies, media narratives make reality intelligible to the public helping 'naturalise and portray as commonsensical the ideology that informs' the selection of just this story, handled in just this way (White 1997, 111, cited in Toolan 2001). In political science, scholars have shown how narratives can influence policy change

Narratives also play an important role in communication and persuasion. They allow agents to convey complex ideas in an accessible and compelling way. They also allow audiences to identify with characters (Igartua 2010), becoming emotionally drawn into otherwise distant or abstract situations and contexts. (Crow and Jones 2018), strategically deploying such narratives to mobilise support and shore up power in policy processes. Policy actors use narratives to 'strategically craft policy narratives to resonate with the public, relevant stakeholders, and governmental decision makers' (Shanahan, Jones, and McBeth 2011, 536). They do so through deploying tactics such as the use of policy symbols, which are emotionally charged rhetoric characterising opponents in a negative light; or policy surrogates, which involves using simple policy problems as surrogate for more contentious issues (Shanahan, Jones and McBeth 2011). Such narratives influence elites, 'which in turn most certainly drive both policy change and policy outcomes.' More specifically, narratives can be strategically deployed 1) to expand issues and increase coalitions; 2) to maintain coalition status quo; and 3) to 'strategically shifting value dimensions of a debate to beneficially restructure political coalitions' (Jones and McBeth 2010, 346). Indeed, Shanahan, Jones and McBeth argue that policies are themselves 'translations of beliefs that are communicated through policy narratives' (2011, 540).

Such narratives are also important in constructing shared historical memory. Narratives of history can be a persuasive tool for framing collective memory (Hammack and Pilecki 2012). They can convey, among other things, continuity or change, and responsibility (Kirkwood 2018), thereby affecting communal identities (self/us versus other/they) (Sahin-Mencutek 2020, 2). They are prevalent in discourse on nation-building and nationalism, shaping conceptions of collective history and identity, including in relation to migrants (Triandafyllidou 1999; Somers and Gibson 1994).

In conveying social classifications and collective representations, narratives also function as boundary markers: conceptual distinctions that have the effect of categorising objects, people, practices and even time and space (Wimmer 2008). In this sense, narratives may serve to create, maintain, contest or even dissolve institutionalised social differences. Narratives thus play a fundamental role in uniting and separating people, but also in generating feelings of affinity, solidarity and group membership. These distinctions may result not only in symbolic notions of 'Us' and 'Them' but also in influencing and legitimising social boundaries of inclusion and exclusion, thus determining differential access to civil, social and political rights.

## 5. Diffusion and Impact

We now turn to explore social science insights regarding how narratives are diffused, and the impacts they have on behaviour and beliefs.

We start by considering how narratives exert influence at the individual level. In the field of social psychology, research has examined how narratives affect people's attitudes, beliefs, intentions, and behaviours through narrative-persuasion processes (Braddock and Dillard 2016). A narrative may persuade by reducing reactance, counter arguing, or selective avoidance, and by increasing/decreasing perceptions of self or group control (Moyer-Gusé 2008). Exposure to a persuasive narrative thus produces story-consistent cognitive, affective, and behavioural changes. Not surprisingly, narratives have been linked to support for controversial political policies (Igartua 2010), improved health (Hinyard and Kreuter 2007), and recruitment into terrorist groups (Casebeer and Russell 2005). The psychological process involved in the processing of narratives (i.e., individuals as receivers of narratives) on the one hand, and the production/ reproduction of narratives (i.e., individuals as makers of narratives) on the other, are intrinsically linked (Kashima 2000). Narratives are a form of normative influence that shapes the opinions and views of individuals, who themselves then rely on this knowledge to construct narratives. In other words, one can say that individuals are narratively-shaped shapers of narratives.

Research in communication science has explored the effects of basic narrative features such as degree of fictionality and medium of presentation on people's opinions. Braddock and Dillard found that fictionality does not cancel out the effects of narrative, as people are naturally inclined to belief and may not actively engage in undoing the creation of the story world; however, the findings are somewhat ambiguous (2016, 461). Similar findings emerge from media studies, where analysis of news about migration and minorities has shown that the constructed-ness of the story goes unnoticed, and lay people reproduce in everyday talk stereotypes conveyed by the information (Dijk 1987). There is no evidence to suggest that the medium of presentation affects the persuasiveness of narratives (Braddock and Dillard 2016). By contrast, the effect of informational framing (stressing certain aspects of reality and pushing others into the background) on individuals' opinions is much more robust (Scheufele 2004). There is also evidence that framing effects are surprisingly persistent in the socio-political domain (Lecheler and De Vreese 2011). Moderately knowledgeable individuals display the most persistent framing effects, while framing effects for individuals with high or low levels of political knowledge dissipated much quicker. Through framing, certain schemas (such as perceptions of threat versus opportunity) become more cognitively accessible (i.e., primed), and guide the interpretation of subsequent related information.

Surprisingly, psychology research on the impact of framing on opinion has almost exclusively focused on the role of 'valence' (describing an event or object in positive versus negative terms) and failed to examine other framing factors. However, the field of narrative psychology, with its focus on the study of individual narrative construction, and how personal narratives are a window into individual's personalities, identities, and sociopolitical attitudes (see, for example, McAdams and McLean 2013; Hammack and Pilecki 2012, points to several other key narrative features that might function as frames and influence individual cognition. One example of such a feature is 'complexity.' Complex narratives have more characters and interwoven plots involving a greater degree of ideational elaboration and suggest multiple meanings and ambiguous resolutions. Other features that may influence cognition include 'affective tone' (use of positive versus negative emotion terms), and 'social boundarity' (use of particular pronouns denoting in-group and out-group distinctions). There is thus a need for research that examines the (separate and joint) influence of these different framing factors on individuals' opinions and subsequent narratives.

Scholarship on policy narratives has also analysed which features of narratives are likely to be most persuasive. Jones and McBeth (2010) argue that narratives that breach canonicity (understood as normalcy or banality),

thus changing the narratives are me to contradict the source of the narrative McBeth 2010, 3 Turning to the comedia studies of media studies here

thus changing the way we view the world, are more likely to be persuasive. However, they also suggest that narratives are more persuasive if they are largely congruent with existing belief systems, which may appear to contradict the claim about breaching canonicity. A further importance aspect is trust in the narrator, or source of the narrative, which will increase the credibility and thus persuasiveness of the narrative (Jones and McBeth 2010, 343-344).

Turning to the dimension of public opinion, there has been extensive research in political science and media studies on how narratives come to influence public attitudes and political behaviour. Research in media studies has explored the conditions under which narratives emerge from two main perspectives. The first is through ethnographic studies of journalism (Gans 1979; Tuchman and Tuchman 1978; Fishman 1990). An important aspect of this is the way in which certain actors are able to produce dominant narratives – in the case of migration, institutions involved in managing migration (Maneri 2011), which become a regular source of information for journalist, thereby translating public officials accounts into a 'public idiom' (Hall et al. 1978; Fowler 1991). In the same vein, news values – i.e., the necessary qualities of 'good news', such as consonance, dramatisation, negativity, unexpectedness,

A key event, or a series of similar events, triggers disproportionate attention – as compared to routine coverage – both as a consequence of its initial characteristics but also, more interestingly, because media practitioners tend to emulate each other's news themes and define newsworthiness in relation to other news-outlets coverage. unambiguity (Galtung and Ruge 1965; Chibnall 1977; Gans 1979) – explain in part the sensationalistic, simplistic and stigmatising narratives on migrants.

One interesting exception to this deductive approach is the visual ethnography of the coverage of the death of Alan Kurdi, the toddler who drowned in the Mediterranean whose picture became viral. This wide circulation transformed the debate and narratives on the 'migrant crisis', at least in the short-term, which began to be called 'refugee crisis' (Parker, Naper and Goodman 2018). In this case, the facilitating conditions for the circulation of the picture were the availability of a polished image (with no signs of the damage done to the body after drowning), the fair-skinned complexion of the child, which facilitated the public's identification with his parents, and especially the circulation of the picture on Twitter, generated by journalists' and activists' connections between their personal accounts (Vis and Goriunova 2015). In other words, the image spread not because of traditional and online media coverage, but first and foremost through Twitter.

A second approach to studying the conditions for the emergence of narratives analyses patterns of attention, notably how certain narratives

elicit sudden bursts of attention and drama over particular episodes. The model of 'media hypes' (Wien and Elmelund-Præstekær 2009; P. L. M. Vasterman 2005) is centred on the mechanisms of media activation (see also Kepplinger and Habermeier 1995). A key event, or a series of similar events, triggers disproportionate attention – as compared to routine coverage – both as a consequence of its initial characteristics but also, more interestingly, because media practitioners tend to emulate each other's news themes and define newsworthiness in relation to other news-outlets coverage. Once perceived as newsworthy, the theme is further covered and amplified actively looking for similar incidents, public officials and politicians' actions and reactions. This process happened frequently regarding MiNa, especially in relation to news coverage of crimes committed by foreigners (Vasterman 2005; Maneri 2018).

A different model, that of moral panic (Cohen 2011), is more interested in the role of 'moral entrepreneurs' in the collective labelling of deviance. In a moral panic, 'a condition, episode, person or group of persons emerges to become defined as a threat to societal values and interests; its nature is presented in a stylised and stereotypical fashion by the mass media; the moral barricades are manned by editors, bishops, politicians and other right-thinking people; socially accredited experts pronounce their

diagnoses and solutions; ways of coping are evolved or (more often) resorted to; the condition then disappears, submerges or deteriorates and becomes more visible' (Cohen 2011, 1). As Márton Ger ans Endré Sik show in their work on Hungarian politics, such moral entrepreneurs can also be part of government (Gerő and Sik 2020). In this criminological model, the spread of narratives that provoke moral outrage is linked to a generalised societal reaction to an episode seen as a surface manifestation of a more profound crisis. In this reaction, moral entrepreneurs, electing themselves as guardians of the moral community menaced from the outside, take the lead in constructing stereotyped and dramatized narratives. In studies that applied the moral panic model to racial minorities (Hall et al. 1978) or migrants (Maneri 2001), narratives about minorities' wrongdoing find exceptionally favourable conditions in a kind of mediatised ritual (Cottle 2006) where roles are scripted from the start. The media play a part that is more important than initially considered (Critcher 2003; Maneri 2013).

The interplay between the process of news-making and the role of political parties and leaders, social movements and civic society organisations (including their use of social media) is usefully developed in the agenda-building approach. However, this research agenda is very complex, and it has been seldom applied empirically. Pogliano and Ponzo (2020) have analysed the agenda-building processes of two relevant Italian local events involving refugees: the attempts of migrants to reach other European countries through Central Station of Milan, from 2013 onwards; and the utilisation of abandoned buildings in Turin by

refugees who had been granted humanitarian status but remained trapped in Italy and unable to access housing or work. The research concluded that the cohesion of local policy networks, understood as shared frameworks and operational cooperation, strengthened their 'narrative autonomy', namely their ability to produce public narratives and impact those of the media. Alongside the cohesion of the local policy networks, the presence of a cohesive local media community, i.e., a group of journalists sharing the same definition of the situation and exchanging information and contacts, was key in developing positive and coherent media narratives.

Research on policy narratives has traced how and why actors diffuse particular narratives. Shanahan, Jones and McBeth (2011) argue that stakeholders form coalitions based on congruent policy beliefs and desired policy outcomes, and these coalitions then generate policy narratives. Such narratives

The interplay between the process of news-making and the role of political parties and leaders, social movements and civic society organisations (including their use of social media) is usefully developed in the agendabuilding approach.

portray the coalition as winning (implying a preference to contain the issue, restrict participation and maintain the status quo); or as losing (implying a preference for issue expansion and disrupts the status quo by engendering policy change). 'Losing stories' are likely to deploy policy narratives tactics, including policy symbols and policy surrogates, through which relatively straightforward problems are used as a proxy for debating larger and more controversial topics (Nie 2003, 314). Shanahan, McBeth and Hathaway (2011) show that the media can adopt policy outcomes (see also Shanahan et al. 2008). Their findings suggest that media narratives impact the public both by consolidating the position of audiences with congruent opinions, and by 'converting' audiences with divergent opinions. However, studies have also been at pains to show the distinct role of the media in shaping narratives. Rather than representing mere conduits for narratives developed by such coalitions, the media actively promotes particular problem definitions and wordings that lead their audiences to particular interpretations and forms of reasoning (Thorbjørnsrud 2015).

Media studies has also explored the contexts under which certain types of myths emerge and gain traction. Key concepts here are the notions of 'subversion myths' and 'atrocity tales.' While the narratives produced by authorities are generally reassuring, subversion myths (a concept initially developed in folklore studies) and atrocity tales serve different functions. A subversion myth explains why things are

going wrong, why established customs and traditions are threatened, and who is responsible. Myths of subversion demonise individuals or groups by holding them responsible for evils. They are usually accompanied by 'atrocity tales' (Bromley, Shupe and Ventimiglia 1979) or 'horror stories': actual or imagined events, typically disseminated by social movements to mobilise support for their cause. Such atrocity tales depict all that is wrong with their enemies, with the aim of evoking a sense of outrage and reaction against these supposed villains.

Media studies have also explored the concept of substantiation: the extent to which narratives are backed by reliable factual documentation. Concepts such as 'rumour' or 'urban legend' are hearsay that lack substantiation, and are 'told, believed, and passed on not because of the weight of the evidence but because of the expectations by tellers that they are true in the first place' (Rosnow and Fine 1976). Rumours tend to surface in times of uncertainty and anxiety, to make sense of events of topical importance. Rumours are a substitute for news, replacing news when institutionalised actors are silent or perceived as unreliable; they are an effort at collective problem-solving (Shibutani 1966). With its unofficial, subterranean, deflected information, we can also conceive fake news in similar terms. What qualifies such news is not so much the falsity of narratives being invoked: official news can be false, and fake news can be true but partial, out of context, or distorted. Similarly to rumours and urban legends, fake news is characterised by its being misleading and viral (Venturini 2019). On the surface, these kinds of narratives appear to be about specific people and events; yet they actually have a general, mythical nature.

### 6. Migration Narratives

Narratives have been extensively applied to the analysis of migration. In the BRIDGES project, we understand such narratives to cover both narratives about migration processes including the causes and dynamics of international movement; and narratives about the life courses, experiences, behaviour and effects of migrants settled in host countries. Within each of these categories, De Fina and Tseng identify two broad groups of research on migration narratives (MiNa): those focusing on the 'types of representations that migrants construct about their identities, experiences, values, and relations with out- groups, through storytelling', or what we could term narratives *of* or *by* migrants; and those that explore 'storytelling as a practice within migrant communities and institutions that deal with migrants' or narratives *about* migrants (De Fina and Tseng 2017, 382). As both of these dimensions are examined in the BRIDGES project, we will briefly consider key literature from each in turn.

In literature on narratives of migrants, personal narratives of the migrant experience in the form of life story narratives or biographical interviews can help understand and communicate the complex factors shaping migration decisions and lived experience (Sahin-Mencutek 2020, 16), providing them with insight into the 'hidden, subtle meanings people assign to their life experiences' (Czarniawska 2004, 24). De Fina and Tseng suggest that research on the lived experiences of migrants (protagonists of stories) offers a counterbalance to 'the often-negative views about marginalized social groups circulated through political discourse and the mainstream media' (2017, 382). As Sahin-Mencutek notes in her overview of this literature, research on migrants' narratives has often focused on charting migration journeys, including through ethnographic approaches. Such studies are valuable in exposing the suffering and abuse that many migrants experience travelling to countries of destination, and can also debunk hegemonic narratives about migratory processes, or assumptions about the motivations of migrants and refugees.

Scholars have observed the very limited voice that migrants and refugees possess in media narratives about them. Since the Kerner Commission (1968), this question has been analysed several times in many Western States and media outlets (for a comparative EU analysis, see Bennett, Kendall, and

McDougall 2011). Squire et al. (2021) recently drew on a large-scale project to narrate the testimonies of migrants, whose 'unheard voices' are crowded out by hegemonic discourses on the 'migrant crisis.'

Studies have also explored the inter-relationship between narratives *by* and *on* migration narratives. For example, studies have examined the impact of official campaigns developed by those seeking to regulate flows on migrants' narratives on migration. Brekke and Thorbjørnsrud (2018) explored how information campaigns by European governments and institutions affected potential migrants in two African countries. They showed how European Governments and institutions had adopted the techniques and plots of the personalized, dramatic and emotional mass media narrative, by using a simple and affective language, employing both the plots of a threat and a hero narratives, and by addressing potential migrants through either the direct 'you' – 'you can risk your life', or by conveying the personal stories of sympathetic and morally worthy migrants who have decided to stay – in their home country (Brekke and Thorbjørnsrud 2018).

However, a far larger body of literature has focused on the second variety of MiNa: narratives on or about migrants. Research has analysed both constructions of immigrants, as well as narratives around multiculturalism, race and citizenship. This latter theme has been prevalent in media studies research. For example, research has identified the Islamisation of migration narratives, especially in Germany and in the Natherlands (Vildia 2000, Pageshand and Vilgenethert 2007)

the Netherlands (Yildiz 2009; Roggeband and Vliegenthart 2007; D'Haenens and Bink 2006; Morgan and Poynting 2016), but also in Norway, after the white supremacist terrorist attack in Utoya in July 2011 (Wiggen 2012). Studies have observed a 'boundary shifting' from ethnic or national boundaries and categorisation to those related to religion and religious belonging (Lamont and Molnàr 2002; Wimmer 2013). Clemons et al. (2020) applied a narrative framework to analyse Islamophobia, analysing the power of facts versus the power of narrative in shaping individual opinion towards Muslims.

Much of the literature has focused on the (increasingly) stringent and securitised nature of narratives on migration in the media. Media studies have identified the frequent adoption of humanitarian and the securitarian (public order) frames to produce MiNa. In particular, the ambiguous construction of refugees in the media as threats or victims highlighted this aspect of framing (Gorp 2005; Much of the literature has focused on the (increasingly) stringent and securitised nature of narratives on migration in the media. Media studies have identified the frequent adoption of humanitarian and the securitarian (public order) frames to produce MiNa.

Chouliaraki 2012). Thus, for example, D'Amato and Lucarelli (2019) chart national newspaper coverage of key political events related to European politics and migration between 2014 and 2018. They identify an increasing normalisation of extreme and anti-immigrant claims in all cases. They also argue that the counter-narrative of 'humanitarian' predominantly depicts migrants as victims, hence denying their subjectivity, agency and actorness.

Benson (2013), in his review of the media and migration academic literature, offered a synthesis of MiNa in the media as a field dominated by three immigration frames: threat frames (which focus on jobs, public order, fiscal and national cohesion), victim frames (focused on global economy, humanitarianism and racism/xenophobia) and hero frames (invoking themes of the good worker, cultural diversity, and integration). These frames replicate the characters through which most narratives develop: the villain, the victim and the hero. In media MiNa, the role of the villain is primarily ascribed to racialised and criminalised migrants (especially Muslim) and by refugees portrayed as fiscal or public order threat. Within the humanitarian frame, the role of the victim is mainly ascribed to refugees, but also to migrants under the topic of the violence of state regulation or racist and xenophobic acts. Migrants often interpret the role of hero as 'good workers' and those who enthusiastically adopt mainstream cultural mores or civic obligations. Chouliaraki and Zaborowski (2017) analyse news articles on the 2015 refugee 'crisis'

BRIDGES Working Papers I #02 November 2021

across eight European countries. They identify three different linguistic practices through which refugee voices are managed in the news, which they refer to as forms of 'bordering': bordering by silencing, which involves the marginalisation of voices of refugees; bordering by collectivization, whereby groups remain unknowable and nameless; and by de-contextualization, which abstracts the plight of refugees from its more nuanced and historical context. They conclude that the distribution of voice in European news follows a strict hierarchy that relies on specifically journalistic strategies of selection and bordering. Laine (2020) seeks to counter securitised narratives on migration to Europe, in particular questioning the narrative of 'crisis' propagated by political leaders in the EU and European countries.

Similar frames have been shown to operate in photojournalism, with images that support the media MiNa functioning through the frames of threat, victim, or hero (Gariglio Pogliano, and Zanini 2010). For instance, in Italy, the redefinition of migrants as desperate (Pogliano and Solaroli 2012), deploying humanitarian images of the arrivals of migrants by sea, plays a crucial role in offering the possibility of framing migrants as threats or victims. By presenting migrants as passive and providing the image of passive desperation as the key image to interpret migration, it becomes easy to link those images with certain forms of criminality or the stereotyped humanitarian victim image (see also Chouliaraki 2012).

Despite the widespread perception that some MiNa and their political exploitation may have had a significant effect on electoral results, there are no rigorous studies of MiNa's impact, as they are complicated to design. The empirical evidence available is often qualitative and smallscale, and limited to specific case studies. Studies focusing on policy narratives have analysed the strategic use of narratives on migration by political leaders. Jones and McBeth (2020) deploy their concept of 'winning' and 'losing' narratives to analyse Trump's strategic use of narratives on illegal migration. They argue that Trump is 'spinning a loser's tale' by blaming 'undocumented migrants and refugees for increased costs', crime, and for taking the jobs of Americans (100-101). Kirkwood (2017) shows how discourse on refugees can be 'humanised', charting the functions and effects of the use of 'human beings' as a category in debates on the European refugee 'crisis' in UK parliamentary debates. Such conceptualisations reinforce processes of othering and the understanding of migration as a binary phenomenon where some are supposed to win ('Us') and others to lose ('Them').

However, less research has been carried out on the impacts of these narratives on public attitudes. Instead, the role of MiNa is typically conceived as a struggle over public meaning, captured by Gramscian ideas of hegemony and counter-hegemony, or by

theories of agenda-setting. Indeed, despite the widespread perception that some MiNa and their political exploitation may have had a significant effect on electoral results, there are no rigorous studies of MiNa's impact, as they are complicated to design. The empirical evidence available is often gualitative and small-scale, and limited to specific case studies. In Italy, Maneri (2019) has described three 'cycles of vindication and criminalisation' that occurred in 1997-2001, 2007-2009, and 2015-2018, each targeting a different group: Albanians, Romanians and asylum seekers. These cycles were characterised by a common pattern. First, xenophobic leaders advanced claims about government 'laxity' over threats created by migration ('vindication'). Government forces then tried to appear tough on immigration, so as not to expose themselves to criticism and loss of electoral support ('catch-up'). An episode or series of episodes in the news embodying the phenomenon that triggers so much bipartisan concern then received exceptional media coverage, accompanied by pressing narratives of threat, and these narratives then became the fetish used by the opposition to attack the government weakness on immigration ('crisis'). The main issue then became the determination to confront the 'emergency', which became a key tactic for whipping up support in elections and contributed to the victory of the opposition ('conquest'). Once in government, the political entrepreneurs of fear kept the tension high for a year or so, with executive and legislative measures showing their determination ('solution'). The new order promoted other cascading provisions that targeted migrants more generally with harsh measures ('criminalisation'); and the final outcome was that the government, satisfied with its display of force, stopped playing up the threat and returned to business as usual ('quiescence').

### 7. The Role of Gender

Compared to the relation between Media MiNa and race and class, gender has been less investigated in these studies. This has partly to do with the invisibility of refugees and migrants as a gendered phenomenon, despite the increasing feminisation of migration flows. As stated in the *Gender guidelines on how to include the gender perspective in the analysis of migration narratives* (Güell and Parella 2021), there are studies confirming the absence or low presence of women in the news on migrants and refugees (Lind and Meltzer 2020; CCME/WACC Europe 2017; Masanet Ripoll and Ripoll Arcacia 2008).

However, some studies examine gender constructions in media MiNa, such as those on the so-called honour crimes (Reimers 2007 for Sweden, Giomi and Tonello 2013 for Italy). This scholarship shows how these stories produce narratives of migrants' culture interpreted (and generalised) as violent and patriarchal. By contrast, Western culture is not seen as influenced by patriarchy and by violence against women, despite the high rates of domestic violence that still characterise Western countries. In Germany and the Netherlands, Scholten et al. (2012) have stressed how episodes of domestic violence in immigrants' families have produced news waves about honour crimes that influenced public opinion, generating a consensus for civic integration policies, especially in relation to civic tests in cases of family reunification. In Italy, news waves of this kind have led to a neat separation between episodes of domestic violence, which include only natives and are described through the axis of gender, and episodes of domestic violence which include only migrants and are explained recurring to religious or ethnic culture. This selective separation reproduces the 'Us versus Them' mantra, perpetuating ideas of civilisation versus barbarity (Pogliano 2015), deploying homogenous social constructs. Work by Belloni, Pastore and Timmerman (2018) found that women in the 'refugee crisis' of 2015-16 were systematically obscured both in statistical terms (with very few statistics by gender produced) and qualitative (through the routine reduction of female migrants to the role of 'vulnerable victims.' In this sense, the representations of migrant women express 'otherness,' charged with 'culturalisation' in essentialist and homogeneous terms. In this way, culture is used to explain women's behaviours and they are mainly described as incapacitated by their cultures, with a lack of autonomy (Giorgi 2012, 87). Moreover, such interpretations ignore the interrelation of different axes of inequalities (i.e., an intersectional perspective) and their contextualisation within structural and complex relationships of power in reception societies.

Images of women have also been used to reproduce the victim (humanitarian) frame in producing media and political MiNa on asylum seekers (Lenette 2017), while the threat frame is rendered through images of men (Maneri 2021). In her analysis of media coverage of the 'Cologne' episode, Boulila and Carri (2017) shows how misogyny is projected onto racialised others, with media narratives emphasising the need to 'educate' Muslim men on 'European values' of gender and sexual equality. Gray and Franck (2019) identify how tropes of racialised, masculinised threat and racialised, feminised vulnerability has characterised narratives of the European refugee 'crisis.' In this context, institutions and NGOs may also reproduce the 'rescue' frame, where they appear as the 'saviours' or 'heroes' of defenceless migrant women. Such an approach fails to distinguish between real victims (for example of sex trafficking) and women who deliberately go into prostitution being aware of the consequences (Oloruntoba et al. 2018). This study also highlights how narratives may be built and propagated at the macro or meso level by institutions or civil society organisations, respectively.

Images of white (Eastern European) women employed as caregivers and domestic workers have been used in MiNa in certain countries to build the frame of the good migrant (Gariglio Pogliano, and Zanini 2010). In Italy, this narrative led to a regularisation decree that was explicitly addressed to domestic workers and caregivers, and which was strongly influenced by gender-oriented representations. When not presented as heroes within the frame of cultural integration (Muslim women who want to live a 'Western life', a desire symbolised in our media by the symbolic act of removing the veil), or within the frame of good workers, women are often treated as victims (asylum seekers, prostitutes, or victims of patriarchy) (Korteweg 2017). Moreover, migrant women's representation in the media has also been studied as a process of over-sexualisation (Pogliano and Gariglio 2013). Other studies undertaken in Italy have identified five main framings to represent migrant women: a) the maid, a reassuring image of migrant women working in Italian homes; b) the prostitute, dependent and subordinate; c) Muslim women, also dependent and subordinate, and embedded in their culture (forced marriages, female circumcision, and veiling are all included in this frame of cultural – coercive – choices); d) emancipated (and westernised) migrant women, with autonomy, independence and good values; and c) migrant mothers, represented as mainly ignorant and poor, subordinated either to their life circumstances, their family, or their culture (Giorgi 2012; Campani 2001).

Another example of a MiNa with a policy impact (in this case, a circular migration policy) is represented by the feminisation of agricultural work in the red berries sector of the enclave of Huelva (south of Spain). At the end of 1990s, the selection criteria changed from recruiting mainly migrant men to migrant women, alleging the need to hire workers with stereotyped feminine skills (delicateness, tidiness) and character (obedient and responsible) (Gualda 2012; Gadea et al. 2015). This narrative was spread by employment agencies, institutions and farmers and has been especially present in the *modus operandi* of the Spanish recruitment in origin programme (*Gestión Colectiva de Contrataciones en Origen*), which for the last ten years has only hired Moroccan women from poor and rural areas, with family responsibilities and little education. This programme brings in the 'travelling' of gender ideologies and roles around honour and confinement from Morocco to Spain (Hellio and Moreno 2017).

The last aspect of interest is that when analysing MiNa, gender needs to be linked with other structural social divisions in order to fully comprehend the reproduction of inequalities, hierarchies and power affecting men and women from a holistic point of view. In this sense, intersectional perspectives sometimes link nation, race and gender (and sometimes also class) to analyse the reproduction of community as white, male and middle-class oriented (Giuliani 2019; Ličen and Billings 2013). However, this scholarship is more centred on cultural than on media studies and only seldom analyses news media related to MiNa.

## 8. Trends in Narratives

We now turn to explore some of the trends identified in narratives on migration and tease out some expectations or hypotheses about how narratives and their use might be evolving in the media, political debate and policy-making.

First, we can identify changes in the use of narratives in the media. Journalism studies distinguishes between news stories written in narrative or non-narrative form (Schudson 1982). Typical hard news, or straight news, have a more organised structure, also known as the 'inverted pyramid style.' The text is organised, with an 'instalment method' (Dijk 1988), in 'satellites' each related to the lead—i.e., the opening sentence of a news story; the order of events and the order of the story are totally disconnected (Bell 1991); the content of the text does not present a plot but, instead, decontextualised, 'important facts', quotes from proper sources, and verbal reactions. By contrast,

more 'classical' storytelling emphasises characters and their human experience, including more detailed descriptions of the setting and a cinematic picture of (some) events in their unfolding, with rising and falling tension. This 'storytelling mode' is used mainly, but not limited to, in feature stories and soft news. Journalism studies has observed that the use of narrative forms of news reporting is increasing, linked to a more general narrative turn.

This has implications for the nature of news, rendering it more persuasive, and also enhancing the scope for subjective interpretation. In the news as storytelling, the interpretation is more 'closed.' The organisation of the news story, like any narrative, conveys ideas about causes and effects, justifications, contextualisation, implications, appraisal and attribution of agency and responsibility to the different characters. The explanation is 'woven into the narrative tissue' (Ricoeur 2016, 278). The focus on characters, our identification with their experience, and their connections with events help establish who is affected and responsible for the crisis in that particular representation, resulting in more explicit moral evaluations (Jones and McBeth 2010). The writing of news-asstories is more subjective. While journalists say that news based on the inverted pyramid style is a story that writes itself, which is no guarantee of objectivity (Tuchman 1972), storytelling involves decisions that determine the specific characters, plot and causal implications.

There is also extensive discussion about the changing *content* of narratives. In the area of migration studies, many contributions, as we have seen, have identified the increasingly negative and 'securitised' nature of depictions of migration. For example, Leurs et al. (2020) and D'Haenens and Joris (2020), suggest that there has been an increased securitisation in the portrayal of migrants in the media. This is often linked to analysis of the growing influence of right-wing populist narratives on migration. Hogan and Haltinner (2015) argue that such narratives are part of a 'populist playbook' shared by transnational right-wing anti-immigrant parties. In his analysis of social media coverage of immigration, Datts (2020), however, found that populist narratives did not dominate Twitter activity on migration – contrary to initial expectations.

A further key debate regards the *factual content* of narratives.

Political science literature on narratives has linked the growing use of narratives in the media to the polarisation of public discourse. New media channels such as blogs, YouTube and various social media platforms create venues for the dissemination of narratives on policy (Shanahan, Jones and McBeth 2011). Within this new media landscape, there has been a rise in right-wing media outlets and user-shared digital news, both of which have enhanced the political traction of more populist narratives (Polletta and Callahan 2019). These platforms have few traditional gatekeepers, in contrast to traditional sources, including traditional news reporting and 'experts.' As a result, the content of narratives, and the reporting or communications within which they are embedded, have become less grounded in fact. This decline in reliability or validity has given rise to the phenomenon of 'fake news.' Yet as Polletta and Callahan show (2019), narratives can be crafted in such a way as to appear to reflect people's experiences, helping account for the traction of such narratives, even where their plausibility is questionable (2019).

However, there is some discussion about the status of the popular concept of fake news (Albright 2017). The somewhat simplistic distinction between true and false is difficult to sustain, and 'fake news' is often identified more in terms of the political context and the subjects who spread it than based on its intrinsic qualities. A key distinction thus relates to the virality of news stories, rather than their factual validity (Venturini 2019; Gray, Bounegru and Venturini 2020; Habgood-Coote 2019).

The organisation of the news story, like any narrative, conveys ideas about causes and effects, justifications, contextualisation, implications, appraisal and attribution of agency and esponsibility to the different characters. However we define it, the concept of 'fake news' raises intriguing issues about how such narratives are handled in different political venues. As Boswell has observed (2011), different political venues will apply different criteria for what constitutes a plausible and wieldy narrative. While simplistic and emotive narratives may be perfectly legitimate and appropriate in certain media settings and for more populist styles of political communication, more technocratic venues may be more exacting in their requirements. Thus, for example, policy-making in public administration, or specialised fora for scrutiny such as parliamentary committees, will be concerned to verify the factual content of narratives, and may want to avoid stories with more dramatized and emotive content. This raises questions about how such venues process and respond to such simplistic and emotive narratives, including those characterised by more 'populist' styles of communication. We can define such styles or claims in terms of their simplicity and urgency (Freeden 2017), their eschewal of expertise and evidence, their assumption that social problems can be addressed through straightforward and immediate interventions, and their direct appeal to the interests of 'the people' in contrast to elites and experts (Canovan 1999; Mudde 2004).

While literature has expressed concern about the rise in narratives, their persuasiveness and their factual content, some scholars have suggested that we still know relatively little about their effects on beliefs, attitudes, and behaviours (Braddock and Dillard 2016). This omission is crucial not just for understanding how narratives shape social actors; but also for commentators who are keen to counter more negative narratives on migration. Casebeer and Russell (2005) argue that we need to understand narratives and their impact in order to generate counter-narrative strategies.

#### 9. Conclusion

From its initial emergence in social science and humanities literature in the 1960s and 1970s, literature on narratives has now burgeoned, becoming one of the most influential approaches to studying communication and behaviour in contemporary societies. The definition of the term has been sharpened, and studies have yielded a range of interesting hypotheses and findings on key dimensions of narratives: their human, social and political functions; the conditions and features that make them persuasive and pervasive; and some of the social and political conditions which are changing the form, content and diffusion of narratives. Literature dealing more specifically with narratives on migration (MiNa) has both applied and further developed these concepts, theories and empirical findings – in many cases operating at the frontiers of theory-building. Indeed, migration has become a key site for the study for narratives, given its salience in media and political debate, and the social tendencies and political incentives to construct migration in particular ways.

This *Working Paper* has set out a proposed definition of narratives that will be deployed in the BRIDGES project, identified some key approaches and claims, and set out a number of issues that need to be further explored and elaborated. We will make use of these concepts and tools across our research on the deployment of narratives in the media, within political debate and policy-making at national and European level, and on the narratives that shape migrants' decision-making.

#### References

Albright, Jonathan. 2017. "Welcome to the Era of Fake News." *Media and Communication* 5 (2): 87–89. Bell, Allan. 1991. *The Language of News Media*. Oxford, UK: Blackwell.

Belloni, Milena, Ferruccio Pastore, and Christiane Timmerman. 2018. "Women in Mediterranean Asylum Flows: Current Scenario and Ways Forward." In *Gender and Migration: A Gender-Sensitive Approach to Migration Dynamics*, edited by Christiane Timmerman, Maria Lucinda Fonseca, Lore van Praag and Sónia Pereira, 217–241. Leuven, Belgium: Leuven University Press.

- Bennett, Peter, Alex Kendall, and Julian McDougall. 2011. *After the Media: Culture and Identity in the 21st Century*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Benson, Rodney. 2013. *Shaping Immigration News: A French-American Comparison*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Boswell, Christina. 2011. "Migration Control and Narratives of Steering." *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations* 13 (1): 12–25.
- Boswell, Christina, Andrew Geddes, and Peter Scholten. 2011. "The Role of Narratives in Migration Policy-Making: A Research Framework." *British Journal of Politics and International Relations* 13 (1): 1–11.
- Boulila, Stefanie C., and Christiane Carri. 2017. "On Cologne: Gender, Migration and Unacknowledged Racisms in Germany." *European Journal of Women's Studies* 24 (3): 286–293.
- Braddock, Kurt, and James Price Dillard. 2016. "Meta-Analytic Evidence for the Persuasive Effect of Narratives on Beliefs, Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviors." *Communication Monographs* 83 (4): 446–467.
- Brekke, Jan-Paul, and Kjersti Thorbjørnsrud. 2018. "Communicating Borders—Governments Deterring Asylum Seekers through Social Media Campaigns." *Migration Studies* 8 (1): 43–65. https://academic. oup.com/migration/advance-article/doi/10.1093/migration/mny027/5061473.
- Bromley, David G., Anson D. Shupe, and J. C. Ventimiglia. 1979. "Atrocity Tales, the Unification Church, and the Social Construction of Evil." *Journal of Communication* 29 (3): 42–53.
- Bruner, Jerome. 1987. "Life as Narrative." Social Research 54 (1): 11–32.
- Campani, Giovanna. 2001. "Migrants and Media: The Italian Case." In *Media and Migration: Constructions of Mobility and Difference*, edited by Russell King and Nancy Wood, 38–52. London, UK: Routledge.
- Canovan, Margaret. 1999. "Trust the People! Populism and the Two Faces of Democracy." *Political Studies* 47 (1): 2–16.
- Casebeer, William D., and James A. Russell. 2005. "Storytelling and Terrorism: Towards a Comprehensive 'Counter-Narrative Strategy.'" *Strategic Insights* 4 (3). https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA521449.
- CCME/WACC Europe (Churches' Commission for Migrants in Europe/World Association for Christian Communication Europe). 2017. "Changing the Narrative: Media Representation of Refugees and Migrants in Europe." CCME/WACC Europe. https://www.imap-migration.org/narrative/publications/ changing-narrative-media-representation-refugees-and-migrants-europe.
- Chibnall, Steve. 1977. Law-and-Order News. London, UK: Tavistock.
- Chouliaraki, Lilie. 2012. "Between Pity and Irony: Paradigms of Refugee Representation in Humanitarian Discourse." In *Migrations and the Media. Global Crises and the Media*, edited by Kerry Moore, Bernhard Gross, and Terry Threadgold. New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Chouliaraki, Lilie, and Rafal Zaborowski. 2017. "Voice and Community in the 2015 Refugee Crisis: A Content Analysis of News Coverage in Eight European Countries." *International Communication Gazette* 79 (6-7): 613–635.
- Clemons, Randy S., Mark K. McBeth, Rolfe Daus Peterson, and Carl L. Palmer. 2020. "The Narrative Policy Framework and Sticky Beliefs: An Experiment Studying Islamophobia." *International Journal on Minority and Group Rights* 27 (3): 472–500.
- Clifford, Geertz. 1973. The Interpretation of Cultures: Selected Essays. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Cohen, Stanley. 2011. Folk Devils and Moral Panics. 3rd ed. London, UK: Routledge.

Cottle, Simon. 2006. "Mediatized Rituals: Beyond Manufacturing Consent." *Media, Culture & Society* 28 (3): 411–432. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443706062910.

Critcher, Chas. 2003. *Moral Panics and The Media.* 1st ed. Buckingham/Philadelphia: Open University Press.

Crow, Deserai, and Michael Jones. 2018. "Narratives as Tools for Influencing Policy Change." *Policy & Politics* 46 (2): 217–234.

Czarniawska, Barbara. 2004. Narratives in Social Science Research. London, UK: SAGE.

D'Amato, Silvia, and Sonia Lucarelli. 2019. "Talking Migration: Narratives of Migration and Justice Claims in the European Migration System of Governance." *The International Spectator* 54 (3): 1–17.

Datts, Mario. 2020. "Social Media, Populism, and Migration." Media and Communication 8 (4): 73-83.

- De Fina, Anna, and Amelia Tseng. 2017. "Narrative in the Study of Migrants." In *The Routledge Handbook of Migration and Language*, edited by Suresh Canagarajah, 381–396. Abingdon, UK Routledge.
- D'Haenens, L.S.J. and Bink, S.C. 2006. "Islam in de Nederlandse media: Focus op het Algemeen Dagblad." *Tijdschrift voor Communicatiewetenschap* 34: 351–367.
- D'Haenens, Leen, and Willem Joris. 2020. "Representational Strategies on Migration from a Multi-Stakeholder Perspective: A Research Agenda." In *The SAGE Handbook of Media and Migration*, edited by Kevin Smets, Koen Leurs, Myria Georgiou, Saskia Witteborn, and Radhika Gajjala. London, UK: SAGE.
- Dijk, Teun A. van. 1987. *Communicating Racism: Ethnic Prejudice in Thought and Talk*. Newbury Park; London, UK: SAGE.

Dijk, Teun A. van. 1988. News as Discourse. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Dijk, Teun A. van. 1997. *Discourse Studies: A Multidisciplinary Introduction*, Vol. 2. Discourse as Social Interaction. Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Entman, Robert M. 1993. "Framing: Toward Clarification of a Fractured Paradigm." *Journal of Communication* 43 (4): 51–58.
- Fischer, Frank. 2003. *Reframing Public Policy: Discursive Politics and Deliberative Practices*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Fischer, Frank, and John Forester, eds. 1993. *The Argumentative Turn in Policy Analysis and Planning*. London, UK: UCL Press.
- Fisher, Walter R. 1984. "Narration as a Human Communication Paradigm: The Case of Public Moral Argument." *Communication Monographs* 51 (1): 1–22.
- Fishman, Mark. 1978. "Crime Waves as Ideology." Social Problems 25 (5): 531–543.
- Fishman, Mark. 1990. Manufacturing the News. Austin, TX: University of Texas Press.
- Foucault, Michel. 2002. Archaeology of Knowledge. London: Routledge.
- Fowler, Roger. 1991. *Language in the News: Discourse and Ideology in the Press*. 1st edition. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Freeden, Michael. 2017. "After the Brexit Referendum: Revisiting Populism as an Ideology." *Journal of Political Ideologies* 22 (1): 1–11.
- Gadea, María Elena, Carlos de Castro, Andrés Pedreño, and Natalia Moraes. 2015. "Jornaleros inmigrantes en la agricultura murciana: reflexiones sobre crisis, inmigración y empleo agrícola." *Migraciones* 37: 149–169. https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/articulo?codigo=5174605.
- Galtung, Johan, and Mari Holmboe Ruge. 1965. "The Structure of Foreign News: The Presentation of the Congo, Cuba and Cyprus Crises in Four Norwegian Newspapers." *Journal of Peace Research* 2 (1): 64–90.
- Gamson, William A., and Andre Modigliani. 1989. "Media Discourse and Public Opinion on Nuclear Power: A Constructionist Approach." *American Journal of Sociology* 95 (1): 1–37.
- Gans, Herbert J. 1979. *Deciding What's News: A Study of CBS Evening News, NBC Nightly News, Newsweek and Time*. Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press.
- Gariglio, Luigi, Andrea Pogliano, and Riccardo Zanini, eds. 2010. *Facce da straniero. 30 anni di fotografia e giornalismo sull'immigrazione in Italia.* Milan, Italy: Mondadori Bruno.
- Gerő, Márton, and Endre Sik. 2020. "The Moral Panic Button 1: Construction and Consequences." In *Europe and the Refugee Response: A Crisis of Values?*, edited by Elżbieta M. Goździak, Izabella Main, and Brigitte Suter, 39–58. Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- Giomi, E., and Fabrizio Tonello. 2013. "Moral Panic: The Issue of Women and Crime in Italian Evening News." *Sociologica* 7 (January). https://doi.org/10.2383/75772.

- Giorgi, Alberta. 2012. "The Cultural Construction of Migrant Women in the Italian Press." *E-Cadernos CE*S 16 (June). https://doi.org/10.4000/eces.1026.
- Giuliani, Gaia. 2019. *Race, Nation and Gender in Modern Italy: Intersectional Representations in Visual Culture*. 1st edition. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gorp, B. van. 2005. "Where is the Frame? Victims and Intruders in the Belgian Press Coverage of the Asylum Issue." *European Journal of Communication* 20: 484–507.
- Gray, Harriet, and Anja K. Franck. 2019. "Refugees as/at Risk: The Gendered and Racialized Underpinnings of Securitization in British Media Narratives." *Security Dialogue* 50 (3): 275–291.
- Gray, Jonathan, Liliana Bounegru, and Tommaso Venturini. 2020. "'Fake News' as Infrastructural Uncanny." *New Media & Society* 22 (2): 317–341.
- Gualda, Estrella. 2012. "Migración circular en tiempos de crisis. Mujeres de Europa del Este y africanas en la agricultura de Huelva." Papers: *Revista de Sociologia* 97 (3): 613–640. https://raco.cat/index.php/Papers/article/view/255853.
- Güell, B., and S. Parella. 2021. "Guidelines on How to Include the Gender Perspective in the Analysis of Migration Narratives." *BRIDGES series*. https://www.bridges-migration.eu/publications/guidelines-onhow-to-include-the-gender-perspective-in-the-analysis-of-migration-narratives/.
- Habgood-Coote, Joshua. 2019. "Stop Talking about Fake News!" Inquiry 62 (9-10): 1033–1065.
- Hajer, Maarten. 1993. "Discourse Coalitions." In *The Argumentative Turn in Policy Analysis and Planning*, edited by Frank Fischer and John Forester, 43–76. London, UK: UCL Press.
- Hajer, Maarten. 1995. The Politics of Environmental Discourse: Ecological Modernization and the Policy Process. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Hall, Stuart, Chas Critcher, Tony Jefferson, John Clarke, and Brian Roberts. 1978. *Policing the Crisis: Mugging, the State, and Law and Order*. London, UK: Macmillan.
- Hammack, Phillip L., and Andrew Pilecki. 2012. "Narrative as a Root Metaphor for Political Psychology." *Political Psychology* 33 (1): 75–103.
- Hellio, Emmanuelle, and Juana Moreno Nieto. 2017. "Contrataciones en Origen, Deslocalización Productiva y Feminización del Trabajo en la Fresicultura del Norte de Marruecos y el Sur de España. Una Historia en Común." *Revista Navegar. Revista de Estudos de E/Inmigraçao* 5 (3): 21–46. https:// hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01793010.
- Hinyard, Leslie J., and Matthew W. Kreuter. 2007. "Using Narrative Communication as a Tool for Health Behavior Change: A Conceptual, Theoretical, and Empirical Overview." *Health Education & Behavior* 34 (5): 777–792.
- Hogan, Jackie, and Kristin Haltinner. 2015. "Floods, Invaders, and Parasites: Immigration Threat Narratives and Right-Wing Populism in the USA, UK and Australia." *Journal of Intercultural Studies* 36 (5): 520–543.
- Igartua, Juan-José. 2010. "Identification with Characters and Narrative Persuasion through Fictional Feature Films." 35 (4): 347–373.
- Jacobs, A. M. 2015. "Process Tracing the Effects of Ideas." In *Process Tracing in the Social Sciences: From Metaphor to Analytic Tool*, edited by A. Bennett and J. T. Checkel, 41–73. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Jones, Michael D., and Mark K. McBeth. 2010. "A Narrative Policy Framework: Clear Enough to Be Wrong?" *Policy Studies Journal* 38 (2): 329–353.
- Jones, Michael D., and Mark K. McBeth. 2020. "Narrative in the Time of Trump: Is the Narrative Policy Framework Good Enough to Be Relevant?" *Administrative Theory & Praxis* 42 (2): 91–110.
- Jones, Michael D., and Claudio M. Radaelli. 2015. "The Narrative Policy Framework: Child or Monster?" *Critical Policy Studies* 9 (3): 339–355.
- Kaplan, Thomas J. 1986. "The Narrative Structure of Policy Analysis." *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 5 (4): 761–778.
- Kashima, Yoshihisa. 2000. "Maintaining Cultural Stereotypes in the Serial Reproduction of Narratives." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 26 (5): 594–604.
- Kepplinger, Hans Mathias, and Johanna Habermeier. 1995. "The Impact of Key Events on the Presentation of Reality." *European Journal of Communication* 10 (3): 371–390.

Kerner Commission. 1868. *Report of the National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office.

- Kirkwood, Steve. 2017. "The Humanisation of Refugees: A Discourse Analysis of UK Parliamentary Debates on the European Refugee 'Crisis.'" *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology* 27 (2): 115–125.
- Kirkwood, Steve. 2018. "History in the Service of Politics: Constructing Narratives of History During the European Refugee 'Crisis.'" *Political Psychology* 40 (2): 297–313.
- Korteweg, Anna C. 2017. "'The Failures of 'Immigrant Integration': The Gendered Racialized Production of Non-Belonging." *Migration Studies* 5 (3): 428–444.
- Laine, Jussi P. 2020. "Reframing African Migration to Europe: An Alternative Narrative." In *Migration Conundrums, Regional Integration and Development: Africa-Europe Relations in a Changing Global Order*, edited by Inocent Moyo, Christopher Changwe Nshimbi and Jussi Laine, 93–116. London, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lamont, Michèle, and Virág Molnár. 2002. "The Study of Boundaries in the Social Sciences." *Annual Review of Sociology* 28 (1): 167–195.
- Lecheler, Sophie, and Claes H. De Vreese. 2011. "Getting Real: The Duration of Framing Effects." *Journal of Communication* 61 (5): 959–983.
- Lenette, Caroline. 2017. "Visual Depictions of Refugee Camps: (De)Constructing Notions of Refugee-Ness?" In *Handbook of Research Methods in Health Social Sciences*, edited by Pranee Liamputtong, 1–18. Singapore: Springer.
- Leurs, Koen, Irati Agirreazkuenaga, Kevin Smets, and Melis Mevsimler. 2020. "The Politics and Poetics of Migrant Narratives." *European Journal of Cultural Studies* 23 (5): 679–697.
- Lévi-Strauss, Claude. 1958. Anthropologie Structurale. Paris, France: Plon.
- Ličen, Simon, and Andrew C Billings. 2013. "Cheering for 'Our' Champs by Watching 'Sexy' Female Throwers: Representation of Nationality and Gender in Slovenian 2008 Summer Olympic Television Coverage." *European Journal of Communication* 28 (4): 379–396.
- Lind, Fabienne, and Christine E. Meltzer. 2020. "Now You See Me, Now You Don't: Applying Automated Content Analysis to Track Migrant Women's Salience in German News." *Feminist Media Studies*, 1-18.
- Lule, Jack. 1995. "The Rape of Mike Tyson: Race, the Press and Symbolic Types." *Critical Studies in Mass Communication* 12 (2): 176–195.
- Maneri, Marcello. 2001. "Il Panico Morale Come Dispositivo Di Trasformazione Dell'insicurezza." *Rassegna Italiana Di Sociologia* 42 (1): 5–40. https://doi.org/10.1423/2557.
- Maneri, Marcello. 2011. "Media Discourse on Immigration. The Translation of Control Practices into the Language We Live by." In *Racial Criminalization of Migrants in the 21st Century*, edited by Salvatore Palidda, 77–93. Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- Maneri, Marcello. 2013. "From Media Hypes to Moral Panics: Theoretical and Methodological Tools." In *Moral Panics in the Contemporary World*, edited by Julian Petley, Chas Critcher, Jason Hughes, and Amanda Rohloff, 171–192. London: Bloomsbury.
- Maneri, Marcello. 2018. "Media Hypes, Moral Panics, and the Ambiguous Nature of Facts: Urban Security as Discursive Formation." In *From Media Hype to Twitter Storm: News Explosions and Their Impact on Issues, Crises and Public Opinion,* edited by Peter L.M. Vasterman, 39–60. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Amsterdam University Press.
- Maneri, Marcello. 2019. "Vengono Qui per Delinquere': Logiche e Cicli Di Criminalizzazione Dell'immigrazione." *Rivista delle Politiche Sociali / Italian Journal of Social Policy* 2: 63–84.
- Maneri, Marcello. 2021. "Breaking the Race Taboo in a Besieged Europe: How Photographs of the 'Refugee Crisis' Reproduce Racialized Hierarchy." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 44 (1): 4–20.
- Masanet Ripoll, Erika, and Carolina Ripoll Arcacia. 2008. "La Representación de La Mujer Inmigrante En La Prensa Nacional." *Papers: Revista de Sociología* 89 (July): 169–185. https:// doi.org/10.5565/rev/papers/v89n0.753.
- McAdams, Dan P. 2006. "The Role of Narrative in Personality Psychology Today." *Narrative Inquiry* 16 (1): 11–18.

- McAdams, Dan P., and Kate C. McLean. 2013. "Narrative Identity." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 22 (3): 233–238.
- McCloskey, Deirdre N. 1990. *If You're so Smart: The Narrative of Economic Expertise*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Morgan, George, and Scott Poynting. 2016. *Global Islamophobia: Muslims and Moral Panic in the West.* London, UK: Routledge.
- Moyer-Gusé, Emily. 2008. "Toward a Theory of Entertainment Persuasion: Explaining the Persuasive Effects of Entertainment-Education Messages." *Communication Theory* 18 (3): 407–425.
- Mudde, Cas. 2004. "The Populist Zeitgeist." Government and Opposition 39 (4): 541–563.
- Murray, Michael. 2003. "Narrative Psychology and Narrative Analysis." In *Qualitative Research in Psychology Expanding Perspectives in Methodology and Design*, edited by Paul Camic, Jean Rhodes, and Lucy Yardley, 95–112. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Nie, Martin. 2003. "Drivers of Natural Resource-Based Political Conflict." *Policy Sciences* 36 (3/4): 307–341.
- Oloruntoba, Aanu, Abigail Ogwezzy-Ndisika, Babatunde Adeshina Faustino, and Kelechi Okechukwu Amakoh. 2018. "Transnational Gendered Narratives on Migration: The Nigerian Media and Female Migrants en Route to Italy from Libya." *Feminist Media Studies* 18 (6): 1130–132.
- Parker, Samuel, Anja Naper, and Simon Goodman. 2018. "How a Photograph of a Drowned Refugee Child Turned a Migrant Crisis into a Refugee Crisis: A Comparative Discourse Analysis." *For (e) Dialogue* 2 (1): 12–28.
- Pogliano, Andrea. 2015. "Hina, Sanaa e Le Altre. Le Conseguenze Degli Stereotipi Religiosi Sulla Comprensione Giornalistica Dell'integrazione." *Questione di immagine. La rappresentazione del sociale sui media*. Accessed 7 October 2021. http://www.questionedimmagine.org/argomento/ immigrazione/religioni/.
- Pogliano, Andrea, and Luigi Gariglio. 2013. "Migranti Musulmani e Prostitute Straniere. Il Giornalismo Tra Umanitario e Securitario." *Educazione interculturale* 1: 35–57.
- Pogliano, Andrea, and Irene Ponzo. 2020. "Local Narrative-Making on Refugees: How the Interaction Between Journalists and Policy Networks Shapes the Media Frames." In *Geographies of Asylum in Europe and the Role of European Localities*, IMISCOE Research Series, edited by Birgit Glorius and Jeroen Doomernik, 113–134. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Pogliano, Andrea, and M. Solaroli. 2012. "La Costruzione Visiva Dell'immigrazione Nella Stampa Italiana. Fotografie Giornalistiche e Cornici Meta-Comunicative." *Studi Culturali* 3: 371–400.
- Polkinghorne, Donald E. 1988. *Narrative Knowing and the Human Sciences*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Polletta, Francesca, and Jessica Callahan. 2019. "Deep Stories, Nostalgia Narratives, and Fake News: Storytelling in the Trump Era." In *Politics of Meaning/Meaning of Politics*, edited by Jason L. Mast and Jeffrey C. Alexander, 55–73. Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Reimers, Eva. 2007. "Representations of An Honor Killing." *Feminist Media Studies* 7 (3): 239–255.
- Rein, Martin, and Donald Schön. 1991. "Frame-Reflective Policy Discourse." In Social Sciences and Modern States, edited by Peter Wagner, Carol Hirschon Weiss, Björn Wittrock, and Hellmut Wollman, 262–289. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Rein, Martin, and Donald Schön. 1996. "Frame-Critical Policy Analysis and Frame-Reflective Policy Practice." *Knowledge and Policy* 9 (1): 85–104.
- Richardson, Laurel. 1990. "Narrative and Sociology." *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography* 19 (1): 116–135.
- Ricoeur, Paul. 1978. "The Narrative Function." Semeia 13: 177-202.
- Ricoeur, Paul. 2016. "The Narrative Function." In *Hermeneutics and the Human Sciences: Essays on Language, Action and Interpretation*, edited and translated by John B. Thompson. UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Roe, Emery. 1994. Narrative Policy Analysis: Theory and Practice. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Roggeband, Conny, and Rens Vliegenthart. 2007. "Divergent Framing: The Public Debate on Migration in the Dutch Parliament and Media, 1995–2004." *West European Politics* 30 (3): 524–548.

Rosnow, Ralph L., and Gary A. Fine. 1976. *Rumor and Gossip: The Social Psychology of Hearsay.* Oxford, UK: Elsevier.

Ryan, Marie-Laure. 2007. "Toward a Definition of Narrative." In *The Cambridge Companion to Narrative*, edited by David Herman, 22–38. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Sahin-Mencutek, Zeynep. 2020. "Migration Narratives in Policy and Politics." *Ryerson University Working Paper no. 2020/17.*
- Sarbin, Theodore R., ed. 1986. *Narrative Psychology: The Storied Nature of Human Conduct*. Westport, CT: Praeger/Greenwood.
- Scheufele, Bertram. 2004. "Framing-Effects Approach: A Theoretical and Methodological Critique." *Communications* 29 (4): 401–428.
- Scholten, PWA, Han Entzinger, Eleonore Kofman, Christina Hollomey, and Claudia Lechner. 2012. Integration from Abroad? Perception and Impacts of Pre-Entry Tests for Third Country Nationals. International Centre for Migration Policy Development (ICMPD) https://research.icmpd.org/fileadmin/Research-Website/ Project\_material/PROSINT/Reports/WP4\_CompRep\_Final\_submitted.pdf.
- Schudson, Michael. 1982. "The Politics of Narrative Form: The Emergence of News Conventions in Print and Television." *Daedalus* 111 (4): 97–112.
- Shanahan, Elizabeth A., Michael D. Jones, and Mark K. McBeth. 2011. "Policy Narratives and Policy Processes." *Policy Studies Journal* 39 (3): 535–61.
- Shanahan, Elizabeth A., Mark K. McBeth, and Paul L. Hathaway. 2011. "Narrative Policy Framework: The Influence of Media Policy Narratives on Public Opinion." *Politics & Policy* 39 (3): 373–400.

Shanahan, Elizabeth A., Mark K. McBeth, Paul L. Hathaway, and Ruth J. Arnell. 2008. "Conduit or Contributor? The Role of Media in Policy Change Theory." *Policy Sciences* 41 (2): 115–138.

Shibutani, Tamotsu. 1966. Improvised News: A Sociological Study of Rumor. Ardent Media.

- Slotkin, Richard. 1992. *Gunfighter Nation: The Myth of the Frontier in Twentieth-Century America*. New York, NY: Atheneum.
- Somers, Margaret, and Gloria Gibson. 1994. "Reclaiming the Epistemological Other: Narrative and the Social Constitution of Identity." In *Social Theory and the Politics of Identity*, edited by Craig J. Calhoun. Oxford, UK: Blackwell.
- Squire, Vicki, Nina Perkowski, Dallal Stevens, and Nick Vaughan-Williams. 2021. "Narratives of 'Crisis.'" Chap. 1 in *Reclaiming Migration: Voices from Europe's' Migrant Crisis'*. Manchester, UK: Manchester University Press.
- Stone, Deborah A. 1997. *Policy Paradox: The Art of Political Decision Making*. New York, NY: W. W. Norton.
- Stone, Deborah A. 2002. *Policy Paradox: The Art of Political Decision Making*. Revised edition. New York, NY: W. W. Norton.
- Thorbjørnsrud, Kjersti. 2015. "Framing Irregular Immigration in Western Media." *American Behavioral Scientist* 59 (7): 771–782.
- Todorov, Tzvetan. 1977. *The Poetics of Prose*. Translated by Richard Howard. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Toolan, Michael. 2001. Narrative: A Critical Linguistic Introduction. Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- Triandafyllidou, Anna. 1999. "Nation and Immigration: A Study of the Italian Press Discourse." *Social Identities* 5 (1): 65–88.

Tuchman, Gaye. 1972. "Objectivity as Strategic Ritual: An Examination of Newsmen's Notions of Objectivity." *American Journal of Sociology* 77 (4): 660–679.

- Tuchman, Gaye, and Barbara W. Tuchman. 1978. *Making News: A Study in the Construction of Reality*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Vasterman, Peter L.M. 2005. "Media-Hype: Self-Reinforcing News Waves, Journalistic Standards and the Construction of Social Problems." *European Journal of Communication* 20 (4): 508–530.
- Venturini, Tommaso. 2019. "From Fake to Junk News." In *Data Politics: Worlds, Subjects, Rights*, edited by Didier Bigo, Engin Isin, and Evelyn Ruppert, 123–144. Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- Vis, Farida, and Olga Goriunova, eds. 2015. *The Iconic Image on Social Media: A Rapid Research Response to the Death of Aylan Kurdi*. London, UK: Visual Social Media Lab.

- Wien, Charlotte, and Christian Elmelund-Præstekær. 2009. "An Anatomy of Media Hypes: Developing a Model for the Dynamics and Structure of Intense Media Coverage of Single Issues." *European Journal of Communication* 24 (2): 183–201.
- Wiggen, Mette. 2012. "Rethinking Anti-Immigration Rhetoric after the Oslo and Utøya Terror Attacks." *New Political Science* 34 (4): 585–604.
- Wimmer, Andreas. 2008. "Elementary Strategies of Ethnic Boundary Making." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 31 (6): 1025–1055.
- Wimmer, Andreas. 2013. *Ethnic Boundary Making: Institutions, Power, Networks*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Yildiz, Yasemin. 2009. "Turkish Girls, Allah's Daughters, and the Contemporary German Subject: Itinerary of a Figure." *German Life and Letters* 62 (4): 465–481.



**BRIDGES:** Assessing the production and impact of migration narratives is a project funded by the EU H2020 Framework Programme for Research and Innovation and implemented by a consortium of 12 institutions from all over Europe. The project aims to understand the causes and consequences of migration narratives in a context of increasing politicisation and polarisation around these issues by focusing on six European countries: France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Spain, and the United Kingdom. To do so, BRIDGES adopts an interdisciplinary and co-productive approach and is implemented by a diverse consortium formed by universities, think tanks and research centres, cultural associations, and civil society organisations.

**The BRIDGES Working Papers** are a series of academic publications presenting the research results of the project in a structured and rigorous way. They can either focus on particular case studies covered by the project or adopt a comparative perspective.

#### How to cite this Working Paper:

Boswell, Christina, Saskia Smellie, Marcello Maneri, Andrea Pogliano, Blanca Garcés, Verónica Benet-Martínez, and Berta Güell. 2021. "The Emergence, Uses and Impacts of Narratives on Migration: State of the Art." *BRIDGES Working Papers* 2. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.5720313

© BRIDGES Consortium 2021 The texts are published in digital format in open access and under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-SA 4.0) license. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.5720313 ISSN: 2696-8886 Editorial Coordination: Barcelona Centre for International Affairs (CIDOB)

This publication has been funded by the European Union under the Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement no. 101004564. Its contents are the sole responsibility of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Union. The European Commission and the Research Executive Agency are not responsible for any use that may be made of the information it contains.